
 

Page 1 

 

 
AGENDA  
 
Meeting: Strategic Planning Committee 

Place: Access the online meeting 

Date: Wednesday 21 April 2021 

Time: 10.30 am 

 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Kieran Elliott, of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 718504 or email 
kieran.elliott@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115. 
 
This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 

 
Membership: 
 

Cllr Fleur de Rhé-Philipe MBE (Chairman) 
Cllr Christopher Newbury (Vice-Chairman) 
Cllr Andrew Bryant 
Cllr Ernie Clark 
Cllr Andrew Davis 
Cllr Stewart Dobson 

Cllr Sarah Gibson 
Cllr Ross Henning 
Cllr Carole King 
Cllr Tony Trotman 
Cllr Fred Westmoreland 

 

 
Substitutes: 
 

Cllr Ian Blair-Pilling 
Cllr Clare Cape 
Cllr Christopher Devine 
Cllr David Halik 
Cllr Russell Hawker 
Cllr Ruth Hopkinson 

 

  
 

Cllr Chris Hurst 
Cllr Nick Murry 
Cllr Stewart Palmen 
Cllr James Sheppard 
Cllr Stuart Wheeler 
Cllr Graham Wright 

 

 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_Yjk4N2IyYWQtYjY0NC00ZDQyLWEyMDMtZDRjMDliNTczMDQ4%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%225546e75e-3be1-4813-b0ff-26651ea2fe19%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%228d1ee3b9-b58f-4b25-b199-215fd2ff22c5%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


 

Page 2 

 

Recording and Broadcasting Information 
 

Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast. At the 
start of the meeting, the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
recorded. The images and sound recordings may also be used for training purposes 
within the Council.  
 
By submitting a statement or question for an online meeting you are consenting that you 
will be recorded presenting this, or this may be presented by an officer during the 
meeting, and will be available on the public record. The meeting may also be recorded 
by the press or members of the public.  
 
Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the 
Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting 
from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they 
accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in 
relation to any such claims or liabilities.  
 
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is 
available on request. Our privacy policy can be found here.  

 
 
 

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2FecCatDisplay.aspx%3Fsch%3Ddoc%26cat%3D14031&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634060435%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=tgq%2B75eqKuPDwzwOo%2BRqU%2FLEEQ0ORz31mA2irGc07Mw%3D&reserved=0


 

Page 3 

 

AGENDA 

                                                      Part I  

 Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public 

1   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies or substitutions for the meeting. 

2   Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 14) 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 27 
January 2021. 

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee. 

4   Chairman's Announcements  

 To receive any announcements through the Chair. 

5   Public Participation  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public. During the 
ongoing Covid-19 situation the Council is operating revised procedures and the 
public are able to participate in meetings online after registering with the officer 
named on this agenda, and in accordance with the deadlines below. 
 
Guidance on how to participate in this meeting online 
 
Access the online meeting here  
 
Statements 
Members of the public who wish to submit a statement in relation to an item on 
this agenda should submit this in writing to the officer named on this agenda no 
later than 5pm on 19 April 2021. 
 
Submitted statements should: 

 State whom the statement is from (including if representing another person or 
organisation); 

 State clearly whether the statement is in objection to or support of the 
application; 

 Be readable aloud in approximately three minutes (for members of the public 
and statutory consultees) and in four minutes (for parish council representatives 
– 1 per parish council). 
 
Up to three objectors and three supporters are normally allowed for each item 
on the agenda, plus statutory consultees and parish councils. 
 

https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Guidance%20on%20Public%20Participation%20in%20Online%20Meeting&ID=4563&RPID=22540945
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_Yjk4N2IyYWQtYjY0NC00ZDQyLWEyMDMtZDRjMDliNTczMDQ4%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%225546e75e-3be1-4813-b0ff-26651ea2fe19%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%228d1ee3b9-b58f-4b25-b199-215fd2ff22c5%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a


 

Page 4 

 

Those submitting statements would be expected to join the online meeting to 
read the statement themselves, or to provide a representative to read the 
statement on their behalf. 
 
Questions 
To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the Council 
received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in particular, 
questions on non-determined planning applications. 
 
Those wishing to ask questions are required to give notice of any such 
questions electronically to the officer named on the front of this agenda no later 
than 5pm on 14 April 2021 in order to be guaranteed of a written response. 
 
In order to receive a verbal response questions must be submitted no later than 
5pm on 16 April 2021. 
 
Please contact the officer named on the front of this agenda for further advice. 
Questions may be asked without notice if the Chairman decides that the matter 
is urgent. Details of any questions received will be circulated to members prior to 
the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website. 
Questions and answers will normally be taken as read at the meeting. 

6   20/10627/FUL: The Paddock, Hook, Lydiard Tregoze, Wiltshire, SN4 8EA 
(Pages 15 - 36) 

 Change of use of land to a gypsy and traveller residential caravan site consisting 
of 4 pitches, each containing 1 mobile home, 1 touring caravan, 1 semi-
detached utility building, car parking, access and children's play area 

7   Urgent Items  

 Any other items of business, which in the opinion of the Chairman, should be 
taken as a matter of urgency. 

 Part II  

 Item during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be 
excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed 



 
 
 

 
 
Strategic Planning Committee 
 

 
MINUTES OF THE STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 27 
JANUARY 2021 AT ONLINE MEETING. 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Fleur de Rhé-Philipe MBE (Chairman), Cllr Christopher Newbury (Vice-
Chairman), Cllr Andrew Bryant, Cllr Ernie Clark, Cllr Andrew Davis, 
Cllr Stewart Dobson, Cllr Sarah Gibson, Cllr Ross Henning, Cllr Carole King, 
Cllr Tony Trotman and Cllr Fred Westmoreland 
 
Also Present: 
 
Cllr Nick Holder 
  
  

 
1 Apologies 

 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 

 
3 Declarations of Interest 

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4 Chairman's Announcements 
 
There were no specific Chairman’s announcements. 
 

5 Public Participation 
 
The procedure for public speaking was noted. 
 
 
 
 

The minutes of the meeting held on 2 December 2020 were presented for 
consideration, and it was,  
 
Resolved:  
 
To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 2 December 2020 
as a true and correct record. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
 
 

 
 
 

6 20/01938/OUT: Land at Semington Road, Melksham, Wiltshire 
 
The following applications were considered: 
 
20/01938/OUT: Land at Semington Road, Melksham, Wiltshire  
 
Public Participation 
Ryan Jones spoke in objection of the application. 
Sue Owen spoke in objection of the application. 
Teresa Strange spoke in objection of the application. 
Jon Penrose, agent, spoke in support of the application. 
 
Cllr Richard Wood, Chairman of Melksham Without Parish Council spoke in 
objection to the application. 
 
Mike Wilmott, Head of Development Management, introduced a report which 
recommended that outline planning permission for up to 144 dwellings with 
informal and formal open space, associated landscaping and vehicular and 
pedestrian accesses off Semington Road be approved.  
 
Key issues included the principle of development, the impact on the character 
and appearance of the area, the impact on the amenity of neighbouring 
residents, highway issues, ecology issues, drainage issues, other issues and 
planning obligations. The current lack of a 5-year land supply for the council 
area was also a factor. 
 
Members of the committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions 
of the officer. Details were sought on the connectivity between the housing site 
and a previously approved application of 150 dwellings to the north, as well as 
to local schools. The commencement conditions of the site was queried as well 
as the proximity of the site to the nearby sewage works.  
 
Questions were also raised on the NHS provision that would be obtained and 
whether anything could be done to decide what the health provision would be 
used for.  
 
Members of the public then had the opportunity to present their views to the 
committee as detailed above. 
 
The unitary division member, Councillor Nick Holder, then spoke in objection to 
the application. 
 
A debate followed, and a motion to approve the officer’s recommendation was 
moved by Councillor Fleur de Rhé-Phillipe, seconded by Councillor Christopher 
Newbury.  
 
Issues raised included the acceptability of the site for development, connections 
with other sites, that the lack of a 5 year housing land supply made the 
application a strategic matter, and details of the section 106 legal agreement  
The reliance upon private vehicles due to the location and the consequent 

Page 6



 
 
 

 
 
 

impacts on future local plan and carbon neutral objectives were raised by some 
members. 
 
In discussion, it was agreed that the possibility of connectivity of the adjacent 
sites should be investigated at further stages, in addition to the prior completion 
of a Section 106 legal agreement to comply with Section 10 of the report.   
At the conclusion of the debate, it was,  
 
Resolved: 
 
To Defer and Delegate to the Head of Development Management to grant 
outline planning permission subject to the conditions set out below and 
subject to the prior completion of a Section 106 legal agreement to secure 
the contributions set out in the Heads of Terms in   section 10 of the 
officer report. 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of one year from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to 
be approved. 
 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 and to ensure the prompt delivery of the site in order 
to meet the need for housing land supply that has justified the granting of 
planning permission on this occasion. 
 
2. No development shall commence on site until details of the following 
matters (in respect of which approval is expressly reserved) have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority: 
(a) The scale of the development; 
(b) The layout of the development; 
(c) The external appearance of the development; 
(d) The landscaping of the site. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
REASON: The application was made for outline planning permission and 
is granted to comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and Article 5 (1) of the Town and Country 
Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. 
 
3. An application for the approval of all of the reserved matters shall be 
made to the Local Planning Authority before the expiration of one year 
from the date of this permission. 
 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
4. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans: 

Page 7



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Location Plan scale 1:1250 dwg no. LoC001 rev 01 
Sketch Layout scale 1:2000 dwg no. 001 rev L 
Parameters Plan scale 1:2000 dwg no. 002 rev B 
Proposed Site Access Plan scale 1:1000 dwg no. 1979-F01 rev G 
 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning. 
 
Highways 
 
5. No development shall commence on site until details of the estate 
roads, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, sewers, 
drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, vehicle 
overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, carriageway 
gradients, drive gradients, car parking and street furniture, including the 
timetable for provision of such works, have been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be 
first occupied until the estate roads, footways, footpaths, verges, 
junctions, street lighting, sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, 
surface water outfall, vehicle overhang margins, embankments, visibility 
splays, accesses, carriageway gradients, drive gradients, car parking and 
street furniture have all been constructed and laid out in accordance with 
the approved details. 
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this 
matter to be considered prior to granting planning permission and the 
matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority before 
development commences in order that the development is undertaken in 
an acceptable manner, to ensure that the roads are laid out and 
constructed in a satisfactory manner. 
 
6. The roads, including footpaths and turning spaces, shall be 
constructed so as to ensure that, before it is occupied, each dwelling has 
been provided with a properly consolidated and surfaced footpath and 
carriageway to at least base course level between the dwelling and 
existing highway. 
 
REASON: To ensure that the development is served by an adequate 
means of access. 
 
7. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until the 
access, turning area and parking spaces have been completed in 
accordance with the details shown on the approved plans. The areas shall 
be maintained for those purposes at all times thereafter. 
 
REASON: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
8. No development shall commence until a Travel Plan based on the 
submitted Framework Travel Plan has been submitted to and approved in 

Page 8



 
 
 

 
 
 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. No part of the development shall 
be occupied prior to the implementation of the Travel Plan, (or 
implementation of those parts capable of being implemented prior to 
occupation). Those parts identified for implementation after occupation 
shall be implemented in accordance with the timetable contained therein, 
and shall continue to be implemented as long as any part of the 
development is occupied. 
 
REASON: In the interests of reducing the amount of private car 
movements to and from the development. 
 
9. Prior to first occupation the access shall have been provided, including 
2 metre wide footways to either side of the access, all as detailed on plan 
number 1979-F01 rev G, including visibility splays of 2.4 x 43 metres in 
each direction to the nearside at a height not exceeding 600mm above 
carriageway level. 
 
REASON: In the interests of safe and convenient access to the 
development. 
 
10. Prior to first occupation the existing narrow bus layby on Old 
Semington Road just north of the access position shall have been 
removed over its entire length and replaced by footway incorporating 
raised bus stop kerbs, a new bus stop flag sign, and new bus stop 
markings, all in accordance with details to be first submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: In the interests of safe and convenient access to the 
development. 
 
11. Prior to occupation of the 50th dwelling the northbound bus layby on 
Old Semington Road, near to the development shall have been improved 
by the provision of a cantilever bus shelter including perch seat and bus 
stop sign flagpole, adjustments to the footway width to enable provision 
of the shelter, incorporation of raised bus stop kerbs, and new bus stop 
markings, all in accordance with details to be first submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: In the interests of providing safe and convenient access to 
public transport for occupiers of the development. 
 
12. Prior to occupation of the 50th dwelling the existing zebra crossing on 
Old Semington Road near to the development shall have been improved 
by replacement road markings, and new LED belisha beacons all in 
accordance with details to be first submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: In the interests of improving pedestrian accessibility in the area 
of the development. 
 

Page 9



 
 
 

 
 
 

Drainage 
 
13. No development shall commence on site until a scheme for the 
discharge of surface water from the site, including sustainable drainage 
systems and all third-party approvals, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with 
the Lead Local Flood Authority. 
 
REASON: To ensure that the development can be adequately drained 
without increasing flood risk to others. 
 
Environment Agency/Ecology 
 
14. No commencement of clearance or construction works development 
shall take place, including demolition, ground works, vegetation clearance 
until a Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
CEMP shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, the following: 

a) Measures which will be used to avoid or reduce impacts during 
construction 

b) on reptiles and amphibians, birds, water vole, otter and hedgehogs 
etc. 

c) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid causing harm to 
d) biodiversity features. 
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists including 

Ecological 
f) Clerk of Works, will be present on site to oversee works 
g) The Location of “Biodiversity Protection Zones” and protective 

fences, 
h) exclusion barriers and warning signs, 
i) Ongoing monitoring, including compliance checks by a competent 

person(s) 
j) during construction and immediately post-completion of 

construction works. 
 
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the 
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details. 
 
REASON: To ensure adequate protection, mitigation and compensation 
for protected species, priority species and priority habitats in accordance 
with submitted ecological reports. 
 
15. Prior to commencement of clearance or construction works, a detailed 
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP), including long term 
objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for 
all areas of imbedded mitigation will be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning. The LEMP shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. It will integrate all the recommendations for mitigation 
and management given in the Ecological Impact Assessment (E3P. 
21/02/2020) and will include specific prescriptions that will protect and 

Page 10



 
 
 

 
 
 

enhance habitat for great crested newts, reptiles, water voles, otter, 
nesting birds and hedgehog. Enhancements should consist of new 
features and habitat to benefit these species/ groups. In terms of habitats 
particular focus should be given to habitat adjacent to Berryfield Brook, 
hedgerows, attenuation ponds and areas provided to benefit target 
species including the Habitat Protection Area (H) and Green Wildlife 
Corridor (G). The plan must include a table of those responsible for 
management, together with mechanisms for monitoring and for altering 
individual management prescriptions that are shown to be ineffective. It 
should also include a site plan annotated with management prescriptions 
for each habitat type or retained/created feature within the site. 
 
REASON: To ensure adequate protection and mitigation for protected 
species and to secure net biodiversity gain in accordance with NPPF. 
 
16. Prior to construction commencing, a lighting strategy for the site will 
be submitted for approval, including a lux plot that shows that a level of 
0.5 lux can be achieved at the edge of any sensitive habitat area, specially 
hedgerows, trees and the riparian vegetation within 10 metre of the top of 
the river bank. 
 
REASON: Many species active at night (bats, badgers, otters) are 
sensitive to light pollution. The introduction of artificial light might mean 
such species are disturbed and/or discouraged from using their breeding 
and resting places, established flyways or foraging areas. Such 
disturbance can constitute an offence under relevant wildlife legislation. 
 
Public Protection 
 
17. No development shall commence on site (including any works of 
demolition), until a Construction Method Statement, which shall include 
the following: 
 

a) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
b) loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
c) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 

development; 
d) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including 

decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where 
appropriate; 

e) wheel washing facilities; 
f) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during 

construction; 
g) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from 

demolition and construction works; and 
h) measures for the protection of the natural environment; 
i) hours of construction, including deliveries. 

 
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved Statement shall be complied with in full 

Page 11



 
 
 

 
 
 

throughout the construction period. The development shall not be carried 
out otherwise than in accordance with the approved construction method 
statement. 
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this 
matter to be considered prior to granting planning permission and matter 
is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority before 
development commences in order that the development is undertaken in 
an acceptable manner, to minimise detrimental effects to the 
neighbouring amenities, the amenities of the area in general, detriment to 
the natural environment through the risks of pollution and dangers to 
highway safety, during the construction phase. 
 
18. If evidence of contamination is found on site, a detailed site 
investigation and risk assessment should be carried out in accordance 
with DEFRA and Environment Agency’s “Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination CLR11” and other authoritative 
guidance and a report detailing the site investigation and risk assessment 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
If the report submitted indicates that remedial works are required, full 
details have been submitted to the Local Planning Authority and approved 
in writing and thereafter implemented prior to the commencement of the 
development or in accordance with a timetable that has been agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority as part of the approved 
remediation scheme. On completion of any required remedial works the 
applicant shall provide written confirmation to the Local Planning 
Authority that the works have been completed in accordance with the 
agreed remediation strategy. 
 
REASON: In order that the development is undertaken in an acceptable 
manner, to ensure that land contamination can be dealt with adequately. 
 
19. Before the development hereby approved is occupied the 
recommendations of the Noise Impact Assessment dated February 2020 
by E3P (section 5 and 6) shall be implemented in full. 
 
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory standard of amenity. 
 
20. No development shall commence above ground floor slab level until a 
scheme of Ultra Low Energy Vehicle infrastructure has been submitted to 
the LPA. The scheme must be approved by the LPA prior to 
implementation and thereafter be permanently retained. 
 
REASON: Development proposals will need to demonstrate that measures 
can be taken to effectively mitigate emission levels in order to protect 
public health, environmental quality and amenity. 
 
Landscaping 

Page 12



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
21. All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping 
shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the 
first occupation of the building(s) or the completion of the development 
whichever is the sooner; All shrubs, trees and hedge planting shall be 
maintained free from weeds and shall be protected from damage by 
vermin and stock. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years, 
die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of a similar size and 
species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority. All hard landscaping shall also be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details prior to the occupation of any part of the 
development or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the 
development and the protection of existing important landscape features. 
 
Archaeology 
 
22. No development shall commence on site until: 

a) A written programme of archaeological investigation, which should 
include on-site work and off-site work such as the analysis, 
publishing and archiving of the results, including a long-term 
management plan for Area 4 (page 6 ‘An Archaeological Desk 
Based Assessment’ dated February 2020 by SLR) that clearly sets 
out a strategy for protecting this part of the site during development 
has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority, and 

b) The approved programme of archaeological work has been carried 
out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this 
matter to be considered prior to granting planning permission and the 
matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority before 
development commences in order that the development is undertaken in 
an acceptable manner, to enable the recording of any matters of 
archaeological interest. 
 
INFORMATIVE 
The Council as local planning authority seek to promote connectivity 
between developments for pedestrians and cyclists to provide safer 
alternatives to the use of the car.  With this in mind, the Council request 
that prior to the submission of a reserved matters submission, the 
possibility of providing a pedestrian/cycle link through to the adjacent 
housing site to the north should be explored, and if feasible, included as 
part of the layout submitted for approval of reserved matters. 

 
Councillor Ernie Clark requested his vote in objection be recorded. 
 

Page 13



 
 
 

 
 
 

7 Urgent Items 
 
There were no Urgent Items. 
 

(Duration of meeting: 10:30 – 12:00) 

 

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Ben Fielding of Democratic 

 Services, direct line 01225 718259, e-mail Benjamin.fielding@wiltshire.gov.uk 

 

Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115 
 

Page 14

mailto:Benjamin.fielding@wiltshire.gov.uk


REPORT FOR STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE  

Date of Meeting 21 April 2021 

Application Number 20/10267/FUL 

Site Address The Paddock, Hook, Lydiard Tregoz, Wiltshire SN4 8EA 

Proposal Change of use of land to a gypsy and traveller residential caravan 

site consisting of 4 pitches, each containing 1 mobile home, 1 

touring caravan, 1 semi-detached utility building, car parking, 

access and children's play area 

Applicant Mr & Mrs C L Richards 

Town/Parish Council LYDIARD TREGOZ 

Electoral Division Royal Wootton Bassett East 

Grid Ref 407749  184726 

Type of application Full Planning 

Case Officer  Eleanor Slack 

 

Reason for the application being considered by Committee  

 

The application was called into Committee by Councillor Mollie Groom to consider the scale 

of development, its visual impact upon the surrounding area, the relationship with the adjoining 

properties, the bulk, height and general appearance of the proposal, the environmental or 

highway impact and car parking use. Councillor Groom also commented that the land is boggy 

after heavy rain, and that properties on Hook Street and Windsor Close are Flooded. Cllr 

Groom also considered that the access to the site was on a dangerous bend where accidents 

have been recorded.  

 

A previous application (18/11739/FUL) for the same proposal was reported to the Strategic 

Planning Committee on 11 September 2019. This application was refused by committee due 

to conflict with Core Policy 47 (vi) and (viii). The applicant subsequently submitted an appeal 

against this decision and a hearing date was set for 3rd June 2020. However due to the Covid-

19 pandemic, this hearing was postponed, and a new hearing date has not yet been set.     

 

1. Purpose of Report 

 

The purpose of the report is to assess the merits of the proposal against the policies of the 

development plan and other material considerations and to consider the recommendation that 

the application be approved. 

 

2. Report Summary 

 

The key issues in considering the application are as follows: 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



- Principle of development 

- Impact on the context and character of the surrounding area 

- Impact on neighbour amenity 

- Parking/highways 

- Drainage 

 

As a result of the consultation exercise, 23 letters of objection were received. The Parish 

Council also raised several concerns regarding the application. 

 

3. Site Description 

 

The application relates to land to the rear of The Paddock, a residential dwelling in Hook. 

Permission was granted on 18th June 2014 (13/05525/FUL) to site two mobile homes, two 

playrooms, two touring vans and hardstanding on the land to the rear of The Paddock. This 

development was to be occupied by close family members of the occupants of the property 

known as The Paddocks. The current application relates to the parcel of land beyond this 

approved development. This area has been partially surfaced with paving and gravel, with the 

remainder covered with grass. To the north and west of the site are agricultural fields, and to 

the east are the residential dwellings known as Elm House and Willow House. Elm House is 

a detached 2.5 storey dwelling which is separated from The Paddock by a wooden fence and 

a brick wall, and the dwelling is sited less than a metre from the boundary. To the south of the 

site are Nos. 5 and 28 Windsor Close which are set at a slightly lower level than the application 

site.  

 

The site is located adjoining the village of Hook which is situated to the north of the M4 

Motorway. The small village is arranged around the C4141 which runs between Royal Wotton 

Basset and Purton. The properties are of a wide range of ages, but the majority are fairly 

contemporary. Surrounding the village is open agricultural land without significant mature 

vegetation although the site itself features mature boundary planting which screens part of the 

site from some neighbouring properties to the south. The landform rises in height in a 

northward direction.  

 

4. Planning History 

 

N/12/00625/FUL Siting of two mobile homes, two dayrooms and hardstanding (refused 

and dismissed at appeal) 

13/05525/FUL Siting of 2 mobile homes, 2 dayrooms, two touring caravans and 

hardstanding (approved) 

18/11739/FUL Change of use of land to a residential caravan site consisting of 4 no. 

pitches each containing 1 no. mobile home, 1 no. touring caravan, 1 no 

semi-detached utility building, car parking, access and children’s play 

area (refused, appeal submitted not yet determined) 

 

5. The Proposal 

 

Permission is sought to change the use of the land to a gypsy and traveller residential caravan 

site consisting of 4 no. pitches, each containing 1 no. mobile home, 1 no. touring caravan, 1. 

No semi-detached utility building, car parking, access and a children’s play area. The Agent 

Page 16



has previously confirmed in writing that the occupants of the site are part of the same extended 

family of Romany Gypsies as the applicant and residents at the property.  

 

6. Local Planning Policy 

 

Wiltshire Core Strategy (2015): 

Core Policy 1: Settlement Strategy 

Core Policy 2: Delivery Strategy 

Core Policy 19: Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Community Area 

Core Policy 47: Meeting the needs of Gypsies and Travellers 

Core Policy 51: Landscape 

Core Policy 57: Ensuring High Quality Design and Place Shaping 

Core Policy 60: Sustainable Transport 

Core Policy 61: Transport and New Development 

Core Policy 67: Flood Risk 

 

North Wiltshire Local Plan (2011) 

H4 – Residential Development in the Open Countryside 

NE18 – Noise and Pollution 

 

National Planning Policy Framework (2019): 

Section 4: Decision-making 

Section 5: Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 

Section 9: Promoting sustainable transport 

Section 12: Achieving well-designed places 

Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 

Section 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

 

Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (2015) 

National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (2020) 

Emerging Gypsies and Travellers Plan 

 

7. Summary of consultation responses 

 

Wiltshire Council Public Protection 

 

No objection subject to conditions  

 

Wiltshire Council Spatial Planning 

 

The officer noted that the need set out by Core Policy 47 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy had 

been met. In accordance with paragraph 11 of Planning Policy for Traveller Sites, where there 

is no identified need, proposal should be assessed against locational criteria. The criteria in 

Core Policy 47 should therefore be applied. 

 

The Council published a 5-year land supply position in August 2019 which confirmed that there 

was a 5-year land supply of traveller sites in the North and West HMA against the Core 

Page 17



Strategy requirement. There was also a 5-year land supply against the 2014 Gypsy and 

Traveller Accommodation Assessment.  

However, a more up to date accommodation assessment is now available. The Council has  

published a Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) dated June 2020. This 

now forms the most recent and up to date assessment of need. For the period 2019 -36, the 

report proposes a requirement of 132 new pitches for travellers who meet the planning 

definition in PPTS Annex 1; 78 pitches for households who do not meet the definition but may 

be protected under the Equality Act; and up to 29 pitches for households who could not be 

determined. The pitch requirements in the GTAA at Figure 10 for gypsies and travellers who 

meet the planning definition includes accommodation need from 4 adults and two teenagers 

at this site.  

The Council is also preparing a Gypsies and Travellers Plan. A consultation on this plan took 

place under Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning Regulations 2012 between 13th 

January and 9th March. The Council is currently reviewing the consultation responses received 

and a consultation report will be prepared and published in due course.  

Wiltshire Council Highways – no objection. The proposal would utilise an existing access. The 

bend in the road to the north is in excess of 100 metres from the site, which is beyond the 90 

metres standard visibility splay for major roads, which itself builds in an allowance for vehicles 

exceeding the speed limit by 10 mph. The access is on a 30 mph road where the normal 

residential road visibility would be 43 metres.    

Wiltshire Council Housing Conditions officer 

Support application.  

Thames Water 

No objection 

Wessex Water 

Wessex Water can accept the foul flows only via an indirect sewer connection to the public 

foul sewer. The use of an existing private sewer connection is subject to building control 

approval.  

Wiltshire Council Landscape Officer 

No objection 

Lydiard Tregoze Parish Council 

Objection raised. The application is similar to application 18/11739/FUL which was refused 

and is still in the appeal process. There has been no indication that the new application is 

meant to replace the one under appeal.  

The plan showing the existing site may be what was approved but it does not reflect what is 

actually there. The site entrance is only 35 yards from a blind bend at the top of the village, 

where speeding occurs regularly. Vehicles travelling around the bend will have little time to 

react if a vehicle is entering or leaving the site. Increased vehicles accessing the site will 

increase the risk of a serious accident occurring.  

Page 18



The site is outside of the settlement boundary. Any development should be contained within 

these boundaries to avoid creeping development. The proposal also has a negative impact 

on neighbouring properties’ amenities and it conflicts with Wiltshire Core Strategy policy 

CP57 (vii).  

The application will increase light pollution. Hook has a sewage flooding issue and it 

experiences low water pressure. The proposal, with a possible increase of 50+ people will 

exacerbate this. The width of the access is not suitable for multiple vehicles.  

Some of the conditions applied to previous consents have not been complied with. The 

Council does not have faith that any conditions applied will be honoured.  

Wiltshire Council Drainage 

No objection subject to a compliance condition and an informative. 

Public consultation 

23 letters were received in objection to the proposal. The main points raised were as follows: 

- The site is inaccurately described as an authorised caravan site.  

- There are travellers sites in the wider area which could be utilised.  

- The need identified by the Core Strategy has been met.  

- It is premature to consider or determine the application while the local plan is under 

consideration 

- The proposal breaches all sections of criteria CP47 except ix. 

- Lack of services and facilities in Hook.  

- The site is outside of the settlement boundary 

- The proposal would no longer be for immediate family, in breach of the conditions 

attached to the 2013 consent.  

- Inappropriate to submit a new application when the appeal has not been determined.  

- Query if the proposal is in compliance with the neighbourhood plan 

- Out of character with the area and detrimental impact on the character and appearance 

of the landscape 

- Proposal would result in the overdevelopment of the site 

- Would negatively change the rural environment in this area 

- Existing external lighting is causing light pollution and a nuisance. 

- Additional light pollution 

- Additional noise pollution 

- Harm to residential amenity and loss of privacy 

- Damage to wildlife in the surrounding area 

- Works undertaken thus far may have caused environmental pollution 

- Highway safety issues associated with access and egress to the site 

- There is no safe pedestrian access to the site.  

- Waste bins associated with the development could block the entrance and cause 

highway safety issues 

- There is little space for vehicle circulation on site.  

- Increase in traffic 

- Would exacerbate highway safety issues and congestion on the adjacent highway 

- Concern that the proposal would increase the risk of flooding in the wider area 

- The surrounding area already suffers from flooding 

Page 19



- Existing water pressure and sewage cannot cope with additional use.  

- A site notice has not been displayed 

- Discrepancy between the development description as advertised and that on the 

application form.  

- All representations submitted under the previous application are still valid and should be 

considered 

- All comments and information submitted to the Planning Inspectorate as part of the 

active appeal should be considered. 

- The drawings do not reflect the current circumstances on site – landscaping has not 

been implemented, day rooms have not been constructed, existing mobile home 

removed from The Paddock, ground levels have been built up, permeable gravel has 

been replaced by block paving.  

- The site boundary along the south side is incorrect as the hedgerow belongs to No. 5 

Windsor Close 

- Distance between the proposed MH & DABs and hedgerow is not shown for mitigation of 

fire risk.  

- The proposal could add over 50 people to the parish 

- Lack of enforcement action taken by the Council 

- Adjacent properties have devalued. Officer note: this is not a material planning 

consideration and it cannot therefore be taken into account in the determination of the 

application.  

- Activity being carried out on site without planning permission. 

- The conditions applied to any consent would be ignored and existing conditions have not 

been complied with 

- Complaint about the short timeframe for comments. 

 

8. Publicity 

 

In accordance with Covid-19 arrangements, the publicity of the application was by way of 

neighbour notification letters.  

 

9. Planning Considerations 

 

9.1 Planning History 

 

In 2012 an application (N/12/00625/FUL) for the siting of two mobile homes, two dayrooms 

and hardstanding on the site was refused for the following reasons: 

 

“The proposed development by reason of its scale, siting and location would result in 

an unacceptable loss of privacy and amenity to both existing occupants of Slough 

House, Elm House and no. 28 Windsor Close by reason of noise and nuisance from 

comings and goings to the pitches, but also in terms of loss of privacy and overbearing 

impact. Further the development would not provide an acceptable level of privacy and 

amenity of the proposed occupants who would be overlooked by Elm House. The 

proposed development thus fails to accord with Policies C3 and H9 of the adopted 

North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011 as well as Core Policy 47 of the emerging Wiltshire 

Core Strategy Pre-submission document 2012.” 

Page 20



This decision was the subject of an appeal which was dismissed. The Inspector dismissed the 

appeal due to the harm caused by the proposal to the living conditions of the occupiers of Elm 

House and Willow House. The Inspector noted that:  

“The appellants have the opportunity of submitting a revised application which seeks 

to address the harm and there appears to be a willingness to do so having regard to 

the concerns of the Council and local residents. I have taken account of the other 

considerations of need and personal circumstances but find that they do not justify 

permitting the development in the form that is before me. I have considered whether 

the harm found could be addressed by the imposition of conditions but find that this 

would require a fundamental re-design of the scheme which goes beyond the scope 

of what could reasonably be achieved by condition, altering the nature of the 

development. 

I am conscious of the human rights of the appellant family and the best interests of 

the children. This is not an enforcement case so they are not threatened with having 

to vacate the land at present or in the near future. There is also a desire of all affected 

parties to reach a solution which could lead to planning permission for an alternative 

scheme. In these circumstances I consider that the dismissal of this appeal is a 

proportionate course of action in terms of the rights engaged and that no violation of 

these rights would occur in doing so. I will therefore dismiss the appeal.” 

An application for the construction of two mobile homes, two day rooms, two touring caravans 

and hardstanding was subsequently approved in 2013 (13/05525/FUL). The mobile homes 

approved by this consent were to be occupied by the Applicant’s son and daughter, and the 

consent was restricted via conditions to occupation by close family. The land to which the 

current application relates was shown as a meadow on the site location plan accompanying 

the 2013 consent.  

 

More recently, an application (18/11739/FUL) to change the use of land to a residential 

caravan site consisting of 4 no. pitches each containing 1 no. mobile home, 1 no. touring 

caravan, 1 no. semi-detached utility building, car parking, access and children’s play area was 

refused by committee. The application was refused on 11th September 2019 for the following 

reason: 

 

“Proposals for new gypsy and traveller pitches are assessed against the criteria set out 

for such sites in policy CP47 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy. In this case, the proposal 

does not satisfy the following criteria in CP47: 

 

vi) The proposed development of the site for the four pitches would have an 

unacceptable impact on the character and appearance of the landscape, harming the 

appearance of the countryside by the introduction of this urbanising development 

extending into the rural landscape. The development would also have an unacceptable 

impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties, due to the increased level of 

disturbance through the use of the access and the proximity of the development to 

nearby residential properties. 

 

Page 21



viii) The development of the site for gypsy and traveller pitches is inappropriate in this 

location to the character of its surroundings, where the village is characterised by 

traditionally built permanent housing. 

 

For the reasons set out in relation to vi) above, the development is also considered to 

conflict with Wiltshire Core Strategy policy CP57 (vii), due to the adverse impact on the 

amenities of neighbouring properties.” 

 

This decision was appealed by the applicant to the Planning Inspectorate. However, that 

appeal has not yet been determined, and no date for an appeal hearing has been set.  

 

9.2 Changed circumstances 

 

The current application is identical to the recently refused application (18/11739/FUL) in terms 

of the type, form, intensity and layout of development proposed. However, the application has 

been submitted as the planning policy context has changed since the previous application was 

determined. The Council has now published a Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 

Assessment (GTAA) dated June 2020 which forms the most recent and up to date assessment 

of need and informs the approach toward Gypsy and Traveller Site provision set out in the 

emerging DPD. For the period 2019-36, the report proposes a requirement of 132 new pitches 

for travellers who meet the planning definition in PPTS Annex 1. This includes accommodation 

need from 4 adults and two teenagers at this site specifically.  

 

The need identified in the GTAA will inform the emerging Gypsies and Travellers Plan which 

is currently being prepared by the Council. The Council has recently conducted a consultation 

on this emerging plan under Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning Regulations 

2012 and a consultation report will be published in due course. This emerging plan will allocate 

sufficient pitches on existing and new sites in order to achieve a rolling five-year land supply 

in accordance with the needs identified in the GTAA from those persons resident in Wiltshire. 

As such the proposal accords with this strategy in meeting an identified need from persons at 

this specific location already within Wiltshire – effectively the needs arising from population 

growth.  

 

Comments received during the public consultation period suggest that it is inappropriate to 

determine this application as the previous appeal has not been determined and because the 

Wiltshire Local Plan is currently under consideration/review. While these comments are 

understood, the Council has a duty to determine the applications which have been submitted 

to it. No date has been set for the appeal hearing and the emerging local plan is still at an 

early stage. Given these circumstances it would not be reasonable for the Council to delay 

determination of the application and if the Council did delay the determination of the 

application the Applicant could appeal against non-determination to the Secretary of State. 

 

9.3 Principle of development 

 

Hook is defined in the Wiltshire Core Strategy as a small village which does not have a 

settlement boundary. In planning terms, the site is therefore located in the open countryside. 

It is noted that when a previous application on the site was refused (13/05525/FUL) Hook had 

Page 22



a settlement boundary. Although this settlement boundary has now been deleted, it is noted 

that the application site falls outside of the former settlement boundary. 

 

As the proposal seeks permission to provide accommodation for specified individuals who are 

travellers, Core Policy 47 is relevant. It states that for the North and West Housing Market 

Area, in which the site is located, for the period December 2016 to December 2021, an 

additional 22 pitches are required. As highlighted by their consultation response summarised 

above, the Council’s Spatial Planning team consider that this need has been met.  

 

However as is made clear in the Inspector’s report accompanying the Core Strategy 

examination, the Council agreed that immediately following the adoption of the Core Strategy, 

a new Gypsy and Travellers Needs Assessment (GTAA) would be undertaken to inform a 

review of Core Policy 47 as part of a Gypsy and Traveller DPD. The Inspector stated that ‘until 

such time as the intended DPD is complete and to ensure flexibility, the pitch requirements 

are best considered as minimums’.  

 

As outlined above, since the previous application on this site was refused, the Council has 

published a GTAA which confirms that there is additional need for pitches in Wiltshire. It states 

that for the period 2019-36 there is a requirement for 132 new pitches for travellers who meet 

the planning definition in PPTS Annex 1. Whilst it is acknowledged that there are traveller sites 

in the wider area, the Council’s Spatial Planning team have confirmed that the GTAA figures 

include a need from 4 adults and two teenagers at this site specifically. The GTAA will be used 

to inform the emerging Gypsy and Travellers Plan, which will allocate pitches on both new and 

existing sites. As the emerging plan is at an early stage in the plan-making process it can only 

be afforded very limited weight.  

 

In accordance with Paragraph 11 of Planning Policy for Traveller Sites, where there is 

identified need, proposals should be assessed against locational criteria. In Wiltshire, Core 

Policy 47 contains the relevant criteria and it states that: 

 

Proposals for new Gypsy and Traveller pitches or Travelling Showpeople plots/yards will only 

be granted where there is no conflict with other planning policies and where no barrier to 

development exists. New development should be situated in sustainable locations, with 

preference generally given to previously developed land or a vacant or derelict site in need of 

renewal. Where proposals satisfy the following general criteria they will be considered 

favourably: 

 

i. No significant barriers to development exist in terms of flooding, poor drainage, poor 

ground stability or proximity to other hazardous land or installation where conventional 

housing would not be suitable 

ii. It is served by a safe and convenient vehicular and pedestrian access. The proposal 

should not result in significant hazard to other road users 

iii. The site can be properly serviced and is supplied with essential services, such as 

water, power, sewerage and drainage, and waste disposal. 

iv. The site must also be large enough to provide adequate vehicle parking, including 

circulation space, along with residential amenity and play area 

Page 23



v. It is located in or near to existing settlements within reasonable distance of a range of 

local services and community facilities, in particular schools and essential health 

services. 

vi. It will not have an unacceptable impact on the character and appearance of the 

landscape and the amenity of neighbouring properties and is sensitively designed to 

mitigate any impact on its surroundings. 

vii. Adequate levels of privacy should be provided for occupiers 

viii. Development of the site should be appropriate to the scale and character of its 

surroundings and existing nearby settlements, and 

ix. The site should not compromise a nationally or internationally recognised designation 

nor have the potential for adverse effects on river quality, biodiversity or archaeology. 

 

In assessing sites for Travelling Showpeople or where mixed-uses are proposed, the site and 

its surrounding context are suitable for mixed residential and business uses, including storage 

required and/or land required for exercising animals, and would not result in an unacceptable 

loss of amenity and adverse impact on the safety and amenity of the site’s occupants and 

neighbouring properties. 

 

Criteria i – Barriers to Development 

 

With regard to criterion i. it is noted that several comments received during the public 

consultation highlighted drainage and flooding issues in the locality. Whilst these concerns are 

noted, the Drainage Engineer is satisfied with the submitted drainage strategy. The drainage 

strategy indicates that surface water would be disposed of by discharging to the existing ditch 

and through the installation of a sub-base storage sustainable urban drainage system. 

Moreover, it indicates that foul water would be discharged to the on-site private foul drain 

which connects to the foul sewer in Hook Road, which Wessex Water have confirmed has 

capacity to accommodate the proposed flows. It also confirms that the connection to the 

existing on-site foul drain would not require access to third party land. It is therefore considered 

that an appropriate drainage strategy is achievable on site and it would not be reasonable to 

recommend the refusal of the application on this basis. The proposal is also considered to be 

in accordance with Core Policy 67. It is noted that there are no other significant barriers to 

development in terms of poor ground stability or proximity to other hazardous land.  

 

Criteria ii – Road Safety and Access 

 

Several objections were received during the public consultation period which relate to criterion 

ii. It was felt that the proposal would increase traffic and exacerbate existing highways safety 

issues and that the access was unsuitable for the additional traffic which would be created by 

the proposal. It was also highlighted that there is no safe pedestrian access to the site. The 

Highways Officer considered that the information provided by the Agent which indicated that 

the daily vehicular movements from the site would likely be less than 20 per day. The Highway 

Officer advised that this number of vehicular movements would not produce a severe 

highways impact, and that the visibility from the access in addition to the proposed parking 

arrangement were adequate. It is therefore considered that the proposal would not have a 

severe detrimental impact upon the surrounding highway network. Whilst it is noted that 

occupants would be required to cross the road in order to access the pavement, this is the 

existing situation for the existing residential units on the western side of road and given this 

Page 24



existing arrangement it would not be reasonable to recommend the refusal of the application 

on this basis.  

 

Criteria iii – Essential services 

 

Criterion iii. requires that the site is properly serviced and is supplied with essential services. 

As outlined above, the Drainage Engineer considers that the proposed drainage/sewage 

arrangement is acceptable. Comments received during the public consultation period 

highlighted that Hook experiences low water pressure and concern was raised that this would 

be worsened by the proposal. However, Thames Water reviewed the proposal and raised no 

objection. On balance, there is no evidence that water supply services would be significantly 

or severely undermined by the development proposal. As such, there is no sound and 

defensible basis for a refusal of the application on these grounds. No details of the proposed 

waste disposal arrangement have been provided and concern was raised during the public 

consultation period that waste bins could block the entrance to the site and cause highway 

safety issues. Further details of the proposed waste storage arrangement could be required 

by way of condition. The proposal therefore complies with criterion iii.  

 

Criteria iv – Vehicle Parking and Residential Amenity 

 

With regard to criterion iv. the Highways Officer was satisfied with the proposed access and 

parking arrangement and they raised no objection to the vehicle circulation areas shown. The 

submitted plans indicate that each of the plots would contain a mobile home, a touring van, 

two parking spaces and a semi-detached amenity block. The proposed units would have 

adequate private amenity space, and it is noted that a play area is also proposed on the site. 

The proposal is therefore considered to comply with criterion iv.  

 

Criteria v – Proximity to Services and Facilities 

 

Concern was raised during the public consultation period regarding the lack of services and 

facilities in Hook. However, in the appeal against application N/12/00625/FUL, the Inspector 

addressed the issues relevant to criterion v. With regard to services, they stated that: 

 

‘Hook only has a modest range (pub, restaurant, hotel – no shops) but the town of 

Wootton Bassett, containing a wide range of shops, services, surgeries and 

schools, is only a short distance away (about 2km to the centre). There are some 

bus services to this town and Swindon during the day (excluding Sundays). The 

Council do not dispute that the appeal site is in a sustainable location and given 

the relatively close access to services I tend to agree.’  

 

Although the site is now located in the open countryside in planning terms, given the above it 

would not be reasonable to refuse the proposal on this basis. The factors relevant to this 

criterion have not materially altered since the appeal and it is considered that the proposal 

complies with criterion v. 

 

Criteria vi – Impact on Landscape and Residential Amenity 

 

Page 25



The most recent application was refused as the committee considered it would not comply 

with criterion vi. They considered that the proposal would have an unacceptable impact on the 

character and appearance of the landscape, harming the appearance of the countryside by 

introducing urbanising development which would extend into the rural landscape.  

 

It is accepted that the previously approved landscaping scheme has not been implemented. 

However, this is a matter for the Council’s Planning Enforcement Team and does not provide 

a sound basis on which to refuse the current proposal. The Landscape Officer has raised no 

objection to the proposal. They considered that the proposal would not undermine the integrity 

of the existing local landscape or local area, nor would it contribute to settlement coalescence. 

They concluded that the proposed development would not generate unacceptable harm to 

landscape character, nor would it result in any adverse effects to public visual amenity. They 

advised that if the submitted landscaping scheme were successfully implemented, the soft 

landscape proposals would help to screen and soften views of the proposal from local 

countryside receptors. Compliance with the submitted landscaping scheme can be secured 

by condition and on balance it is not considered that the proposal would cause such harm to 

the rural character of the area or the landscape that the proposal could reasonably be refused 

and defended at appeal on this basis.  

 

Criterion vi. also requires that the proposal will not have an unacceptable impact upon the 

amenity of neighbouring properties. It is noted that the most recent application was refused as 

the committee considered the proposal would have an unacceptable impact on the amenity of 

neighbouring properties ‘due to the increased level of disturbance through the use of the 

access and the proximity of the development to nearby residential properties’. Several 

concerns were raised during the public consultation period regarding the impact of the 

proposal upon the amenity enjoyed by neighbouring properties. It was felt that the proposal 

would increase noise and would result in loss of privacy for neighbouring properties. 

 

Whilst it is accepted that the proposed development would be visible from the neighbouring 

properties known as Elm House, Willow House and Nos. 5 and 28 Windsor Close, it is not 

considered that the proposal would cause such harm to the amenity enjoyed by these 

properties that the proposal could reasonably be refused and defended at appeal on this basis.  

 

With regard to the impact upon Elm House and Willow House, only the side elevation of the 

mobile home in Plot 4, which would not contain any windows, would face towards Elm House. 

The amenity block serving plots 3 and 4 would be positioned beyond this mobile home and 

the primary windows contained within it would be orientated away from Elm House and Willow 

House. Although the proposed mobile homes sited within Plots 2 and 3 would be orientated 

towards Elm House and Willow House, the proposed block plan indicates that the front 

elevation of these mobile homes would be over 36 metres from the boundary line with Elm 

House. There are some established trees along the rear boundary line of Elm House and the 

proposed landscaping scheme indicates that 3 additional silver birch would be planted along 

this boundary. Given this very significant distance, combined with the fact that the mobile 

homes would only be of a single storey, it is not considered that they would erode the privacy 

enjoyed by these occupiers.  

 

The proposed amenity block serving plots 1 and 2 would be a single storey structure and the 

block plan indicates that it would be located approximately 27 metres from the boundary line 

Page 26



with Elm House. The principal windows serving this building would be in the northern elevation, 

and they would not therefore face directly towards Elm House or Willow House. Given the 

scale and orientation of this building along with the position of the proposed windows, it is 

considered that it would not give rise to any significant loss of privacy for Elm House or Willow 

House such that the proposal could reasonably be refused on this basis. Finally, the proposed 

mobile home within plot 1 would be approximately 10 metres from the boundary line with Elm 

House. However due to its position in relation to Elm House, and the scale of the proposed 

mobile home, it is considered that no significant loss of privacy would occur.  

 

It is considered that the relationship between the proposed development and both Elm House 

and Willow House as described above, would not be of an overbearing nature. Similarly, the 

proposed development would not give rise to any overshadowing or loss of light.  

 

The most recent application was refused due to the increased level of disturbance caused to 

neighbours from the use of the access. However, it is important to note that the supporting 

information indicates that the proposal would be occupied by the applicant’s extended family, 

and this would be controlled by condition. As such, the proposal would not give rise to a 

significant number of additional vehicle movements along the boundary line with Elm House. 

In their report on the 2013 appeal, the Inspector specifically addressed this matter. They 

commented as follows: 

 

‘There is also the matter of noise from vehicles using the driveway between The 

Paddock and Elm House. The latter contains no windows to habitable rooms on the 

side and neither the occupiers of this house nor Willow House have objected on this 

basis. For the appellants it was argued that the surfaced drive is already in use by 

the family and that this has been the case since they took up occupation of the house 

with their son with their daughter and children returning some time ago. The vehicles 

that come and go on a regular basis are 2 transit vans, 2 4WD vehicles and a car. 

The development will not increase this number although I accept that the 

establishment of the residential use at the rear could lead to more comings and 

goings. Nevertheless, I consider that in the prevailing circumstances this is unlikely 

to add significantly to the levels of noise experienced by neighbours.’ 

 

It is considered that the same conclusions would apply in this case. The site would be occupied 

by one family, and the agent has provided information to indicate that vehicle movements 

associated with the proposal would be low, the Council’s Highways Officers did not dispute 

this assessment. The side elevation of Elm House contains no windows to habitable rooms 

and the additional vehicle movements associated with the proposal would not add significantly 

to the levels of noise experienced by neighbours. Therefore, it would not be reasonable to 

refuse the application on this basis.   

 

It is considered that the proposal would not have an unacceptable impact upon the amenity 

enjoyed by Nos. 5 and 28 Windsor Close. The Inspector considered this issue in the 2013 

appeal and concluded that ‘due to the dense screening vegetation and fences on the 

boundary… no harm to the living conditions of the occupants’ of these dwellings would arise’. 

The same is considered to apply in the case of the current proposal.  

 

Page 27



It is considered that the proposal would also have an acceptable impact upon the amenity 

enjoyed by The Paddocks and the adjacent approved mobile homes. The western most 

existing mobile home does not contain any windows in its side elevation and given the location 

and scale of the proposed mobile home within plot 1, it is considered that there would be no 

unacceptable overshadowing or overbearing impact for this adjacent occupier. The mobile 

home in plot 4 would be orientated away from the aforementioned existing mobile home and 

it is therefore considered that there would not be any unacceptable overlooking between the 

two units. The occupants of the proposed units would drive past the two approved mobile 

homes and the dwelling known as The Paddocks. However, the units would be occupied by 

the extended family of the occupants of the wider site and there would not be significant 

additional vehicle movements associated with the proposal. The proposal is therefore 

considered to be acceptable in this regard.  

 

Criteria vii - Privacy 

 

Criterion vii. requires that adequate levels of privacy should be provided for occupiers. The 

four proposed plots would enjoy an adequate standard of amenity.  

 

Criteria viii – Scale and Character 

 

The most recent application was refused as the committee considered that the proposal 

conflicted with criterion viii. They considered that the development of the site for gypsy and 

traveller pitches was inappropriate to the character of its surroundings, where the village is 

characterised by traditionally built permanent housing. However, there are two existing 

authorised pitches on this site, and the proposed new pitches would be obscured from public 

view by existing buildings as well as existing and proposed planting. Permission is sought for 

four additional pitches to provide accommodation for the Applicant’s family, and the need for 

these pitches has been reflected in the Council’s new GTAA. The Landscape Officer raised 

no objection to the proposal and the development of a small family site is considered to be in-

keeping with the scale and character of the locality.  

 

Criteria ix – National and International Designations 

 

The proposal would not conflict with criterion ix. as there are no nationally or internationally 

recognised designations on the site or in its vicinity. The proposal would not be in close 

proximity to a river, nor would it cause harm to biodiversity or archaeology. 

 

In summary, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in principle as it complies with criteria 

i. to viii. of Core Policy 47.  

 

Other matters 

 

A comment was received during the public consultation period which raised concern that the 

proposal would increase light pollution. The proposal does not indicate that any external 

lighting is proposed, however a condition is suggested to control the installation of external 

lighting on the site.  

 

Page 28



Concern was also raised that the proposal would harm wildlife in the surrounding area and 

that the works undertaken thus far may have caused environmental pollution. There are no 

ecological constraints on the site, and there is no indication that the proposal would have any 

adverse impact upon protected species or the environment in a broad sense. The Public 

Protection Officer advised that they had no concern regarding land contamination.  

 

Reference was made during the public consultation period to other caravan sites in the locality 

which could be occupied as an alternative to the current proposal. However as the proposal 

is considered to comply with relevant policy, it is not necessary to take into account alternative 

accommodation which may be available in the locality. Moreover, as highlighted previously 

the GTAA confirms that there is a need for new pitches on this specific site.  

 

Concern was raised about compliance with a neighbourhood plan. Although there is an 

emerging neighbourhood plan for Lydiard Tregoze, this plan is not at an advanced stage of 

preparation and therefore it cannot be afforded weight in the determination of this application.   

 

Comments received also raised concern that a site notice had not been displayed outside of 

the site. Whilst this comment is appreciated, due to the on-going Covid-19 pandemic, the 

Council is only erecting site notices where it is legally required to do so. The current application 

does not fall within the criteria for which a site notice would be required. However the 

application was advertised by way of neighbour notification letters in accordance with the 

Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. 

Concern was also raised about the available timeframe for public comments. However a 

formal 21 day consultation period took place, and all public comments received following the 

end of this period were also considered. Therefore, it is considered that the Council has fully 

satisfied its duty to consult in this case.  

 

Reference was made to the activities which have been carried out on site without planning 

permission and it was highlighted that the Council has not taken enforcement action to remedy 

the situation in this respect. The Council’s Enforcement Team are aware of the concerns 

raised in this respect, however it is necessary and standard practice to await the outcome of 

the determination of any live applications and/or appeals such as that the pending at this site 

before proceeding with formal action.   

 

It is noted that comments received during the public consultation period suggested that the 

plans and application form submitted in support of the application were not accurate. It was 

felt that the landscaping had not been implemented, day rooms have not been constructed, 

existing mobile home has been removed from The Paddock, ground levels have been built up 

and permeable gravel has been replaced by block paving. It is acknowledged that although 

two day rooms and mobile homes are shown on the existing site plan, only one mobile home 

is currently present on the site. It is also noted that block paving and gravel have been laid on 

site. Whilst the concerns raised in this respect are acknowledged, the position and number of 

day rooms and mobile homes shown on the existing block plan reflects the development 

permitted by application 13/05525/FUL and the other approved structures could therefore be 

added at a later date. If members of the public are concerned that works have been carried 

out on site without the requisite consents, they are advised to report these matters to the 

Council’s Planning Enforcement Team for investigation.  

 

Page 29



It is acknowledged that the application form suggests that the proposal would be adjacent to 

an authorised caravan site. The concerns raised regarding this reference are appreciated and 

it should be noted that the reference to the site in these terms would not alter the scope of the 

previous approval or impact the conditions which were attached to control its use. The 

previous consent allowed two mobile homes for the occupation of two close family members, 

and the description of the site in the current application form would not affect this.  

 

As outlined previously, the proposed plots would be occupied by close members of the 

Applicant’s family, and conditions are suggested to ensure this. There is no evidence to 

suggest that the proposal would be occupied by unrelated individuals. 

 

It is acknowledged that the development description on the application form differs from that 

used by the Council to advertise the application. In agreement with the Agent, the Council 

added the words ‘gypsy and traveller’ to the description to the clarify the nature of the proposal. 

This amended description was then used to advertise the proposal. It is common for 

development descriptions to be amended in this manner and the Council acted appropriately 

in this regard.  

 

A comment received highlighted that the distance between the development and the hedgerow 

was not shown for mitigation of fire risk. However the plans have been drawn to scale and the 

distance between the proposal and hedgerow can therefore be measured. The Council’s 

Housing Officers have reviewed the submission and raised no concerns or objections in 

respect of proposed site layout and fire safety. 

 

Concern was raised that the southern site boundary was incorrect as the hedgerow belongs 

to No. 5 Windsor Close. The Applicant provided the Council with a copy of their land registry 

details in this respect and the site area shown on the plans was updated accordingly. However, 

for the avoidance of doubt it should be noted that the grant of planning permission would not 

override any third party property rights which may exist. 

 

Comments received suggested that the representations made during the previous application 

and the live appeal should be considered in the determination of this application. The Council 

is required to consider the representations submitted in respect of this planning application. 

Any representations made in respect of the previous application and appeal have already 

been taken into account in the determination of that application and will be considered further 

by a Government appointed Inspector in the determination of that appeal. 

 

10. Conclusion 

 

The proposal is considered to be acceptable on its planning merits. The proposal is considered 

to comply with Core Policies 47, 51, 57, 60, 61 and 67 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy and 

sections 4, 5, 9, 12, 14 and 15 of the NPPF (2019). With no material planning considerations 

indicating otherwise, the application is recommended for approval. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Grant permission subject to the following conditions: 

 

Page 30



 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission. 

REASON:   To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans:  

01551/3 Rev 2 – Static Van 

TDA.1956.02 – Site Layout and detailed landscape proposals (permitted layout) 

01551/4 Rev 1 – Double Amenity Block 

01551/10 Rev 2 – Site location plan 

Received 02/02/2021 

01551/5 Rev 1 – Proposed fencing 

Received 04/03/2021 

01551/1 Rev 4 – Existing layout 

01551/2 Rev 7 – Site development scheme 

Received 26/03/2021 

Proposed soft landscaping plan. 

Received 29/03/2021 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

3 The site shall not be permanently occupied by persons other than gypsies and 

travellers as defined in Annex 1 of Planning policy for traveller sites (DCLG, 2012).  

REASON: Planning permission has only been granted on the basis of a demonstrated 

unmet need for accommodation for gypsies and travellers and it is therefore necessary 

to keep the site available to meet that need.  

4 All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried 

out in the first planting and seeding season following the first occupation of the 

buildings or the completion of the development whichever is the sooner;  All shrubs, 

trees and hedge planting shall be maintained free from weeds and shall be protected 

from damage by vermin and stock. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five 

years, die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced 

in the next planting season with others of a similar size and species, unless otherwise 

Page 31



agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  All hard landscaping shall also be 

carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of any part 

of the development or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in writing with the 

Local Planning Authority. 

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the development and the 

protection of existing important landscape features. 

5 The fences shown on the approved plans shall be erected prior to the first occupation 

of the residential units hereby permitted and shall be retained and maintained as such 

at all times thereafter. 

REASON: To prevent overlooking & loss of privacy to neighbouring property. 

6 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or 

amending that Order with or without modification), no garages, sheds, greenhouses 

and other ancillary domestic outbuildings shall be erected anywhere on the site on the 

approved plans. 

REASON:  To safeguard the character and appearance of the area. 

7 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015  (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or 

amending that Order with or without modification), no gates, fences, walls or other 

means of enclosure, other than those shown on the approved plans, shall be erected 

or placed anywhere on the site. 

REASON:  In the interests of visual amenity. 

8 No more than four commercial vehicles shall be kept on the site for use by the 

occupiers of the caravans hereby permitted, and shall not exceed 3.5 tonnes in weight.  

REASON: In the interests of residential amenity, highway safety and the character of 

the countryside.  

9 Except for the keeping of commercial vehicles as defined in condition 8, above, no 

commercial activity or use, including the storage of materials and waste, shall be 

carried out on the site.  

REASON: In the interests of residential amenity, highway safety and the character of 

the countryside.  

10 Occupation and use of the Mobile homes and touring caravans hereby permitted shall 

be limited solely to and by close family members of the occupants of the property 

known as The Paddocks. Close family members defined as dependents, sons, 

daughters and grandchildren. 

REASON: In the interests of residential amenity. 

Page 32



11 No more than eight caravans, as defined in the Caravan Sites and Control of 

Development Act 1960 and the Caravan Sites Act 1968 (of which no more than four 

shall be a static caravan) shall be stationed on the site at any time. At no time shall the 

four touring caravans hereby permitted be used as permanent occupation. 

REASON: It is important for the local planning authority to retain control over the 

number of caravans on the site in order to safeguard interests of visual and residential 

amenity in accordance Core Policy 57 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy. 

12 No external lighting shall be installed until plans showing the type of light appliance, the 

height and position of fitting, illumination levels and light spillage in accordance with the 

appropriate Environmental Zone standards set out by the Institute of Lighting 

Professionals in their publication "Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light 

GN01:2011", have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority.  The approved lighting shall be installed and shall be maintained in 

accordance with the approved details and no additional external lighting shall be 

installed. 

REASON: In the interests of the amenities of the area and to minimise unnecessary 

light spillage above and outside the development site. 

13 

 

The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details of the proposed 

domestic waste storage and collection arrangement have been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.  

14 The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the approved foul and 
surface water drainage   works   proposed   have   been   completed   in accordance 
with the submitted and approved details. 

 
REASON: To ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory means of 
drainage. 
 

14 No waste shall be burnt on the site at any time.  

REASON: In the interests of the amenities of the area.  

15 No construction or demolition work shall take place on Sundays or Public/Bank 

Holidays or outside the hours of 0800 to 18:00 Monday to Friday and 08:00 to 13:00 on 

Saturdays. 

REASON: In the interests of the amenities of the area. 

16 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT:  

The applicant should note that the grant of planning permission does not include any 

separate permission which may be needed to erect a structure in the vicinity of a public 

sewer.  Such permission should be sought direct from Thames Water Utilities Ltd / 

Wessex Water Services Ltd. Buildings are not normally allowed within 3.0 metres of a 

Page 33



Public Sewer although this may vary depending on the size, depth, strategic 

importance, available access and the ground conditions appertaining to the sewer in 

question. 

17 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT: 

Any alterations to the approved plans, brought about by compliance with Building 

Regulations or any other reason must first be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 

Authority before commencement of work. 

18 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT:  

The applicant is requested to note that this permission does not affect any private 

property rights and therefore does not authorise the carrying out of any work on land 

outside their control. If such works are required it will be necessary for the applicant to 

obtain the landowners consent before such works commence. 

If you intend carrying out works in the vicinity of the site boundary, you are also 

advised that it may be expedient to seek your own advice with regard to the 

requirements of the Party Wall Act 1996. 

19 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT 

Wiltshire Council is the land drainage authority under the Land Drainage Act 1991. 

Land drainage consent is required if a development proposes to discharge flow into an 

ordinary watercourse or carry out work within 8m of an ordinary watercourse. 

An ordinary watercourse is a watercourse that does not form part of a main river. The 

term watercourse includes all rivers and streams and all ditches, drains, cuts, culverts, 

dikes, sluices, sewers (other than public sewers within the meaning of the Water 

Industry Act 1991) and passages, through which water flows. 

Wiltshire Council’s land drainage byelaws can be downloaded here. The land drainage 

consent application form and guidance notes can be found on our website here.  

 

 

Page 34

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Fcivil-emergencies-drainage&data=04%7C01%7CEleanor.Slack%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C6ad718bba5a7409922fd08d8d9784ca7%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637498457984749073%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=tScVr6fMLnvjfK1HDB9niWyEWEP6%2BD4RZMynwLxtGXE%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Fcivil-emergencies-land-drainage-ordinary-watercourse&data=04%7C01%7CEleanor.Slack%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C6ad718bba5a7409922fd08d8d9784ca7%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637498457984759027%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=7NsxpU7UifkoxhEVeWQ22g8DvQ4v47UrwARFd8uwZRo%3D&reserved=0


Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	6 20/10627/FUL: The Paddock, Hook, Lydiard Tregoze, Wiltshire, SN4 8EA
	Location Plan


